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Herodotus, The Histories Book 1, sections 1–5

Book 1 (1-5)

This is the account of the research of Herodotus from Halicarnassus, which he carried out so that the achievements of men might not be forgotten over time, and great and marvellous deeds of both Greeks and Barbarians might be famous. Most of all he wanted to reveal the reasons why they came to war with each other.

1 

Persian writers say that the Phoenicians were responsible for the disagreement; they came from the sea which is called the Red Sea to the Aegean Sea and when they had settled in the country where they still live they made voyages in trading ships, and came with Egyptian and Assyrian goods to many places and in particular to Argos, where they displayed what they had to sell.  At this time Argos was the most important of all the cities in what is now called Greece.  On the fifth or sixth day after their arrival when they had sold almost all their goods many women came to the shore amongst whom was the daughter of the King; Her name was Io, the daughter of Inachos.  These women stood at the stern of the ship and were buying the goods which they most wanted, when the Phoenicians urged each other on and made a rush at them.  The majority of the women escaped, but Io and some others were captured.  The Phoenicians hustled them into the ship and sailed off to Egypt.  

2 

This is how the Persians say Io arrived in Egypt, but the Greeks do not agree; this was the first of the wrongdoings.  After this some Greeks (the Persians do not report which state; they were probably from Crete) came to the Phoenician port of Tyre and seized the daughter of the King, Europa.  This was just tit-for-tat, but after this the Persians say the Greeks were responsible for the second wrongdoing.  The Greeks sailed in a warship to Aea in Colchis on the River Phasis, and when they had done what they had come to do, they seized Medea, the daughter of the King.  The King then sent a herald to Greece demanding justice for the abduction and the return of his daughter; but the Greeks replied that they had received nothing for the abduction of Io from Argos, and so they would give nothing to him.  

3 

In the second generation after this it is said that Alexander (Paris), the son of Priam, heard these stories and decided to get a wife himself by abducting her from Greece, as he realised he would not have to pay any penalty just as the Greeks had not.  When he had abducted Helen, the Greeks decided to send messengers to demand Helen back and seek recompense for the theft.  When these demands were made the Trojans brought up the snatching of Medea, since they had not received recompense on that occasion and the girl had not been returned.  
4 

So far there had only been abductions on either side, but for what happened afterwards the Persians say that the Greeks were definitely responsible; for they sent out an armed expedition to Asia.  The Persians consider the abduction of women to be an unlawful act but to show excessive enthusiasm for vengeance once they have been snatched is a foolish one; sensible people are not concerned about such things.  For it is clear that if the women had not wanted to go, they would not have been abducted.  The Persians claim that those from Asia made no great fuss about the abduction of women, but the Greeks gathered together a huge expedition because of a Spartan woman; then they came to Asia and destroyed the Empire of Priam. From this time onwards they always thought that the Greek world was hostile to them.  The Persians consider Asia and the barbarian peoples living there to be their own and think that Europe and the Greek world are separated from them.

5 

The Persians say things happened like this and because of the capture of Troy they reckon that the beginning of hostility towards the Greeks arose from that time.  But concerning Io there is no agreement between the Persians and the Phoenicians; for the Phoenicians say that they did not abduct her and take her to Egypt, but that she slept with the captain of the ship while they were in Argos; and when she realised she was pregnant, being ashamed to tell her parents, she sailed away with the Phoenicians of her own free will in order to hide her misfortune.  That then is what the Persians and the Phoenicians say.

About these matters I am not going to say whether this or that version is true, but I will show you who I know to have been the first to harm the Greeks and then I will go on with my story, telling the stories of both small and great cities of men.  For the majority of those cities which once were great have become less important, and those cities which were great in my time previously were small.  As I realise that human happiness does not stay in the same place for long, I will recall both great and small equally. 

Herodotus, The Histories Book 6, sections 98–118

98 

When Datis had done this, he began to sail with his army first against Eretria, taking with him the Ionians and Aeolians; after he had set sail from there, Delos was shaken by an earthquake for the first and last time up until the present day, according to the Delians. The god sent this, I suppose, as a portent of the troubles that were about to happen. For in the time of Darius, the son of Hystaspes, and of Xerxes, his son, and of Artaxerxes, the son of Xerxes, who followed each other in succession, more troubles happened for Greece than in the twenty generations before the birth of Darius; some occurred during the wars against the Persians and others during the fighting for control between the leading Greek states. For this reason it was not unreasonable that Delos, an island which had never been shaken before, should suffer an earthquake. The following words were written in an oracle about Delos:

I will shake Delos as well, though never shaken before.

In the Greek language Darius means ‘worker’, Xerxes ‘fighter’ and Artaxerxes ‘great fighter’.

99 

When the barbarians set sail from Delos, they went round the other islands in the Aegean, and collected troops from them and took as hostages the children of the islanders. As they were sailing round, they came to Carystus; the Carystians did not surrender hostages and they refused to send forces against neighbouring cities. The Persians began to besiege them and ravaged their land until the Carystians were compelled to follow the Persian demands.

100 

When the Eretrians learned that the Persian forces were sailing towards them, they asked the Athenians to help them. The Athenians did not refuse and sent to assist them the four thousand men settled by them on the territory of the richer citizens of Chalcis. Amongst the Eretrians, who had sent for the Athenians, however there was no single plan. There were two courses of action under consideration: some planned to leave the city and flee to the hills of Euboea, while others, looking out for their own gain from the Persians, were preparing to surrender the city. Aischines , the son of Nothon, when he learned how things stood, informed those of the Athenians who had come what was happening, and asked them to return to their own country to avoid disaster. The Athenians followed his advice.

101 

They crossed to Oropus, and saved themselves. However the Persians sailed up and landed their ships at Tamynae and Choereae and Aigilia; they got their horses ashore and began preparations to attack the enemy. The Eretrians did not intend to leave the city and fight a pitched battle, but they were determined to guard their walls if they could (since the decision had been taken not to leave the city). As the assault on the walls became heavy, over six days many on both sides were killed; on the seventh day, Euphorbus, the son of Alcimachus, and Philagrus, the son of Cyneas, both well-respected citizens, betrayed the city to the Persians. When the Persians entered the city, they plundered the temples and burnt them, taking revenge for the temples burnt in Sardis, and then they enslaved the inhabitants, following Darius’ instructions.

102

Once they had overcome Eretria, they spent a few days there and then sailed towards Attica in good spirits, expecting to have the same success against the Athenians. Hippias the son of Peisistratus led them towards Marathon, which was the part of Attica nearest to Eretria and most suitable for cavalry.

103 

When the Athenians learned about this, they came to meet them at Marathon. The Athenian forces were led by ten generals, of whom the tenth was Miltiades. As it happened, his father Cimon, son of Stesagoras, had been banished by Peisistratus, son of Hippocrates. While he was in exile he was lucky enough to win the chariot race at Olympia; by this victory he achieved the same honour as his half brother Miltiades. At the next Olympic festival, he won again with the very same horses, but allowed Peisistratus to be announced as the winner; because of this he returned to his own land with the agreement of Peisistratus. With the same horses he won again at another games, but he was killed by the sons of Peisistratus once Peisistratus himself had died. His sons sent some men to kill him at night by the Council House. Cimon is buried outside the city, on the other side of what is called the ‘hollow road’; opposite him are buried his horses, with which he won three Olympic victories. One and only one other team of horses belonging to Euagoras the Spartan had already achieved this distinction. The older of Cimon’s children was then living with his uncle Miltiades in the Chersonese, while the younger (who was named after Miltiades who set up the settlement in the Chersonese) was living with Cimon in Athens.

104 

This then was the Miltiades who had returned from the Chersonese, having escaped death twice, and now was one of the Athenian generals. The Phoenicians had pursued him as far as the island of Imbros, very keen to capture him and bring him to the Persian king. After escaping from them he arrived home safely as it seemed; but his enemies were waiting for him and took him to court, prosecuting him for his tyranny in the Chersonese. After he had been acquitted, he was chosen as an Athenian general by the people.

105 

While they were still in the city the generals sent to Sparta a herald called Pheidippides, an Athenian and an experienced long-distance runner. As Pheidippides himself reported to the Athenians, the god Pan met him on Mount Parthenion above Tegea, and after calling out his name, told him to ask the Athenians why they did not show respect to him, when he was well-disposed towards them and had often been useful to them in earlier times, and would be again in the future. The Athenians, once their situation was again secure, as they believed this story was true, dedicated a shrine to Pan beneath the Acropolis and worshipped him from that time onwards every year with sacrifices and a torch-race.

106 

Pheidippides was sent by the generals this time, when he said that Pan appeared to him, and reached Sparta on the day after he left Athens; when he came before the Spartan magistrates he said: ‘Men of Sparta, the Athenians ask you to come to help them and not to allow the most ancient city of Greece to be thrown into slavery by foreigners; for already Eretria has been enslaved and Greece is now weaker through the destruction of a notable city. In this way Pheidippides did what he had been told to do; the Spartans wanted to go to help the Athenians, but it was impossible for them to do so immediately, as they did not wish to break their laws. For it was the ninth day of the month, and they said they could not march out on the ninth until the moon was full.

107 

The Spartans waited for the full moon, while Hippias, the son of Peisistratus, led the barbarians towards Marathon; the night before he had had a dream in which he seemed to be sleeping with his mother. He interpreted this to mean that he would return to Athens and recover control of the city, ending his life as an old man in his own country. The next day he was showing the Persian forces the way; the slaves taken from Eretria were put ashore on an island belonging to the city of Styra, called Aegilia. Then he took the ships to Marathon where they came to anchor, and he organised the troops when they had disembarked. While he was doing this he happened to sneeze and cough more violently than usual; as he was fairly old, the majority of his teeth were loose, and he coughed with such force that one came out of his mouth; it fell on the sand, and Hippias made every effort to find it. When the tooth could not be found, with a groan he said to those who were with him: ‘This land is not ours and we will not be able to bring it under control; my tooth now has whatever part of it was mine.’

108 

That was how Hippias reckoned his dream had turned out. The Athenians had taken up position in the sanctuary of Heracles, and the Plataeans came to help them with their whole army. For they had made an alliance with the Athenians some years before this, and the Athenians had already helped them on many occasions. 

109 

The opinions of the Athenian generals were split: some did not wish to engage with the enemy (for the Athenians were few in number to fight with the army of the Persians), while others (among them Miltiades) were ready to fight. This division persisted and the weaker tactic was on the point of being chosen; there was an eleventh member of the war council, the man selected by lot to be the War Archon (for in the past the Athenians used to give the War Archon the same voting rights as the generals); at this time it was Callimachus from the deme Aphidnae, so Miltiades went to him and said: ‘It is down to you, Kallimachos, either to enslave Athens or to make her free and to leave a memorial of yourself for the whole span of human history greater than even Harmodios and Aristogeiton. For now the Athenians have come to the greatest crisis they have ever faced, and if they submit in slavery to the Persians, it is clear what they will suffer when handed over to Hippias; but if this city survives, it will be able to become the most powerful of all the Greek cities. How these things can be brought about and how the decision about what to do has fallen to you, I will now tell you. We generals are ten in total and we have different opinions about what to do, some wanting to engage the enemy and others not. If we do not fight, I expect that the Athenians’ resolve will be shaken and they will go over to the Persian side. But if we fight before this rot has entered any Athenian minds, if the gods give us fair fortune, we are able to be victorious in the battle. Everything now depends on your decision, and on you alone. If you accept my opinion about what to do, our fatherland will be free and will be the first city in Greece. But if you choose to vote with those who do not wish to fight, you will achieve the opposite of what I have just said.

110 

By saying this, Miltiades won over Callimachus; with the support of the War Archon, the decision to fight was agreed. After this, as each of the generals who had voted for engaging with the enemy became commander for a day in turn, they surrendered their position to Miltiades. Miltiades accepted their offer, but did not make the decision to fight until he was commander for the day in his own right.

111 

When it was Miltiades’ turn, the Athenians were drawn up for battle, with the War Archon commanding the right wing; this was the usual practice in Athens at this time. The tribes then took up their positions in their usual order, and the Plataeans were drawn up last on the left wing. Ever since this battle, when the Athenians are performing sacrifices at their four-yearly festival, the herald prays that both the Athenians and the Plataeans may be granted good fortune. 

As the Athenians were getting into position at Marathon, it turned out that the Athenians kept their battle line as wide as the Persian one, with the result that the middle was a few rows deep (so the line was weakest there), but both wings were strong. 

112 

When they were ready for battle and the omens were favourable, the Athenians were sent into battle and hurried forward at a run towards the barbarians. There was about a mile between the two armies. When the Persians saw them charging at a run, they got ready to receive them, considering the Athenians  both mad and bent on self-destruction, especially as they had no support from either cavalry or archers as they rushed onwards. But the Athenians when they joined battle with the barbarians all along the line, fought in a manner worth remembering. For they were the first of all the Greeks we know about who engaged with the enemy at a run, and they were the first to carried on when they saw Persian clothing and the men wearing it. Until this battle even the name ‘Persian’ caused fear in men that heard it.

113 

The fighting at Marathon lasted a long time. In the centre of the battle, where the Persians themselves and the Sacae were stationed, the barbarians were winning, and once they had broken through the Athenian ranks, they pursued them inland; but on both wings the Athenians and Plataeans were victorious. Once they were successful, they allowed the fleeing enemy to escape, and drawing together both wings they engaged with the Persians who had broken through in the middle, and the Athenians were victorious. They pursued the Persians as they fled, cutting them down, until they came to the sea, and then they called for fire and grabbed hold of the ships.

114 

During this struggle the War Archon Callimachus, a brave man, was killed, together with one of the generals, Stesilaus the son of Thrasylaus. Cynegeirus, the son of Euphorion, took hold of a ship’s stern with his hand, and was killed when his hand was severed by an axe; and so too many other notable Athenians.

115 

The Athenians captured seven ships in this way, but the Persians retreated with the rest of their fleet, and once they had picked up the Eretrian slaves from the island where they had left them, they began to sail round Sunium, intending to get to the city of Athens before the Athenian force did. Amongst the Athenians the reason that the Persians thought of doing this was blamed on the Alcmaeonidae; for it was said that they had made an agreement with the Persians and had signalled to them with a shield when they were already on their ships.

116 

The Persians were sailing round Sunium, and the Athenians returned as quickly as they could to help the city, and managed to arrive back before the Persians, and, having left one sanctuary of Heracles at Marathon, drew up their line of battle when they arrived in another, this time in Cynosarges. The barbarians lay at anchor off Phalerum (for this was the main port of Athens at the time), and then sailed back to Asia.

117 

In the battle fought at Marathon about 6400 Persians were killed, while the Athenians lost 192. During the fighting a wonderful thing happened: Epizelus the son of Couphagoras, an Athenian man, was engaged in close combat and was fighting bravely when he lost sight in both eyes, even though he had not been struck on the body by sword or arrow, and he remained  blind for the remainder of his life from that time onwards. I heard that he told a story about his experience: it seemed as if a great warrior stood before him, whose beard covered his whole shield; this apparition went past him and killed the man standing beside him.

118 

As Datis was making his way with his army back to Asia, when he was at Myconos, he had a dream. What the dream was is not recorded, but, as soon as day had dawned, Datis made a search of the ships and found in one of the Phoenician ships a golden statue of Apollo; he asked where it had been taken from, and when he learned from which temple it came, he sailed in his own ship to Delos. The Delians had returned by that time to the island, so he placed the statue in the temple and ordered the Delians to take it back to the Delium which is part of Theban territory: it is on the shore opposite Chalcis. After he had given these instructions, Datis sailed away, but the Delians did not take back this statue, but twenty years later the Thebans themselves brought it back to Delium because of an oracle.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 7, sections 5–7

5 

After the death of Darius, his son Xerxes became king.  Xerxes was not at all eager to march against Greece, and gathered his army for an expedition against Egypt.  Mardonius, the son of Gobryas, who was Xerxes’ cousin and son of Darius’ sister, was with him and had the most influence of all the Persians at his court. He made the following argument: 'Master, it is not reasonable that the Athenians who have done the Persians a great deal of harm should not pay the penalty for what they have done.  You should complete what you have in hand at the moment; but when you have subdued the revolution in Egypt, lead your army against Athens so that you may have a noble reputation amongst men and everyone after this will be wary of marching against your territory.' This was an argument for revenge, but Mardonius also added that Europe was a very fair country where there were all types of cultivated trees, an excellent land which deserved to belong to the great King alone of all men.

6 

Mardonius said this because he was eager for change and wanted himself to be in control of Greece.  As time went by he worked on Xerxes and persuaded him so that he did what he wanted. There were other things as well which helped persuade Xerxes.  From the Aleuadai (who were the leading family in Thessaly) messengers arrived, showing great enthusiasm, who invited the King into Greece.  As well as this, those members of the family of Peisistratus who had come to Susa used the same arguments as the Aleuadai and in addition offered still more; they brought with them an Athenian man called Onomacritus, a soothsayer and the arranger of the oracles of Mousaios. They had made up their quarrel with him, for he had been banished from Athens by Hipparchus the son of Peisistratus, after he was caught by Lassus adding an oracle to the collection of Musaios which claimed that the islands near Lemnos would disappear into the sea.  That is the reason why Hipparchus banished him although they had been close friends before.  Then he travelled to Susa, and whenever he came into the presence of the King, while the members of Peistratus’ family spoke solemn words about him, he would recite his oracles.  If there were anything in them about difficulties for the barbarians he said nothing about this, but he chose only those which were most favourable, explaining for example that the Hellespont was destined to be bridged by a Persian man and showing how the crossing was to be made.  Onomacritus kept on reciting his oracles, while the family of Peisistratus and the Aleuadai repeated their opinions about what Xerxes should do.

7 

When Xerxes had been persuaded to make an expedition against Greece, then in the second year after the death of Darius first of all he led an army against those who were in revolt.  He overcame the rebels and placed all of Egypt under a much tighter control than it was in the time of Darius; he handed it over to his own brother Achaemenes, who was the son of Darius.  Later a Libyan man, Inarus, son of Psammetichus, murdered Achaemenes while he was in charge of Egypt.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 7, sections 23–24

23

The barbarians divided up the ground amongst themselves and dug the canal on Athos in the following way.  They drew a straight line near the city of Sane; when the channel was deep, some stood at the bottom and dug, while others passed the soil that was removed to those standing above on the edges, and they in turn passed it down the line until they came to those who were highest; they carried it out and threw it away.  The sides of the ditch fell in, apart from in the section organised by the Phoenicians, and doubled the work where all the others were working, and as they had made the top and the bottom of the channel the same size, this was always going to happen.  The Phoenicians showed their wisdom in this task as in the other tasks that they did.  In the part of the canal allocated to them, they made the top level double the width which was needed for the canal itself, and as they went on with the task they gradually narrowed it; at the bottom their section was equal in width to the others.  There is a meadow nearby where there was a meeting place and the market for the workers.  A great deal of ready ground corn was brought from Asia for them.

24

So far as I can understand by thinking about this, Xerxes ordered them to dig this canal out of pride, wishing to show his power and to leave something memorable.  Although it was possible to drag their ships across the isthmus without any great effort, he ordered the canal to be dug through to the sea wide enough for two triremes to be rowed through at the same time.  The same men who were ordered to dig the canal were also ordered to put a bridge across the banks of the River Strymon.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 7, sections 32–41

32

When he came to Sardis, Xerxes first sent heralds to Greece to all the states except Athens and Sparta to demand earth and water and instructing them to prepare to entertain the king. This was the second Persian demand for earth and water and Xerxes did this because he thought that all those who had refused when Darius made the demand would now submit through fear. So he sent the heralds to find out if this was indeed what would happen.

33 

After this he got ready to march to Abydos. In the meantime the Hellespont was bridged from Asia to Europe. On the Hellespont, between Sestos and Madytus, there is a rocky spit jutting out into the sea opposite Abydos: not long after this the Athenians under the command of Xanthippus, the son of Ariphron, captured a Persian man called Artaÿctes, who was the governor of Sestos and pinned him to a plank alive; it was this man who gathered some women together in the temple of Protesilaus at Elaeus and committed unlawful acts against them.

34 

Xerxes’ men built their bridge to this headland, starting from Abydos, as they had been instructed, a total distance of seven stades; the Phoenicians used a flax cable and the Egyptians a papyrus one. After the bridge had been built, a powerful storm broke it up and destroyed it completely. 

35 

When Xerxes learned this, in his anger at the Hellespont he ordered that it should receive 300 lashes and have a pair of fetters thrown into its waters. I have also heard that in addition he sent people to brand the Hellespont. He ordered the men who were flogging it to say arrogant and barbarous words: ‘O bitter water, your master places this penalty upon you, because you wronged him when you had suffered nothing at his hands. Xerxes the King will cross over you, whether you want him to or not. Rightly no one offers sacrifices to you as you are a muddy and salty river.’ Xerxes gave instructions that the sea should be punished in this way and that the heads of those responsible for the building of the bridge should be cut off.

36 

The men who were given this disagreeable task carried it out, and other engineers built the replacement bridge: they lashed together penteconters and triremes – 360 ships moored at an angle on the Black Sea side and 314 moored down stream on the other, to reduce the strain on the cables. They used very heavy anchors both to east and west because of the changeable winds in the area. A narrow opening was left in three places for ships to sail through so that any small boats that wanted to might enter or leave the Black Sea. Once this was done, they stretched out the cables, tightening them from the land with wooden pulleys; they no longer kept the different types of cable separate, but used two flax ones on each and four papyrus ones. The thickness and quality were the same, but the flax cables were heavier. Once the bridge was ready, they made planks of wood equal in length to the width of the boats and arranged them over the tightened cables, and fastened them down; then they laid brushwood and soil over the top which they stamped down; then they put fencing along both sides to prevent the pack animals and horses from seeing the sea and becoming frightened.

37 

When the bridges were completed and it was reported that the work on the canal at Athos, including the breakwaters at each entrance (which were added to prevent the silting up of the channel), was also completed, the army first wintered at Sardis, then, once everything was ready at the beginning of spring began to march to Abydos. As the army was setting out, the sun disappeared from its place in the sky and it changed from day to night, even though the sky was cloudless and there was clear weather. Xerxes became concerned when he learned about this, so he asked the Magi what this portent meant. They said that the god was showing the Greeks the eclipse of their cities, as the sun foretold the future for the Greeks, just as the moon did for the Persians. Once he heard this Xerxes continued the march to Abydos in good spirits.

38 

While he was directing the march, Pythius the Lydian, terrified by the portent in the sky and encouraged by the gifts the king had given him, came to Xerxes and said: ‘Master, I would like you to grant me something, a small matter for you to help me with but important to me. Xerxes, expecting him to ask for almost anything rather than what he did ask for, said that he would help and told Pythius to ask for what he wanted. When he heard the king’s reply, Pythius was encouraged and said, ‘Master, I have five sons and all of them happen to be marching with you against Greece. My King, pity me, an old man, and release the oldest of them from the expedition so that he can look after me and my belongings.’

39 

Xerxes was very angry and he replied: ‘You wicked man, do you dare to mention your son, when I am leading this expedition against Greece myself, bringing with me my children and brothers and relatives and friends; you are my slave and should follow with your entire household, including your wife. Understand that a man’s spirit is affected by what he hears – if he hears good things, his body is filled with pleasure, but if the opposite, he becomes swollen with rage. When you did good things for me and promised to do still more, you cannot boast that you outdid me in generosity; now when you have made this shameless request, you will get less than you deserve in punishment. Your hospitality to me saves you and four of your sons; but you will be punished by the death of the eldest, who is the most important to you. After he had given this response, Xerxes at once ordered those who were responsible for such things to find the eldest of Pythius’ sons and cut him in half, then to place the two halves of the body on either side of the road, so that the army could march out between them.

40 

This was done and the army then set out once more. First went the baggage carriers and the pack animals, and after them the army with all races mixed together, not separated into different national forces. When more than half had set out, a gap was left so that they would not have contact with the king; one thousand horsemen selected from all Persians led the royal contingent, then a thousand spearmen, also selected in the same way, who turned their spears down to the ground.; next came ten sacred horses, which were called Nisaean, most beautifully ornamented. (They are called ‘Nisaean’ because there is a great plain called Nisaean in Media which produces very large horses.) Behind these horses came the sacred chariot of Zeus, which was drawn by eight white horses, and behind these horses followed on foot a charioteer holding onto the reins; for no man travels in this chariot. Behind this Xerxes himself followed in a chariot drawn by Nisaean horses, with his charioteer Patiramphes, son of Otanes the Persian, by his side.

41 

In this way Xerxes left Sardis, and he moved from the chariot to a covered carriage when he wanted to. Behind him there were a thousand of the best and most noble spearmen, holding their spears pointing upwards, and then another thousand cavalrymen selected from the Persians, and behind them ten thousand select Persian foot soldiers: a thousand of these had golden pomegranates instead of spikes, and they surrounded the other nine thousand men, who had silver pomegranates on their spears. Those who were marching with spears pointing towards the ground also had golden pomegranates, and those who came after Xerxes had apples. These ten thousand foot soldiers were followed by ten thousand cavalrymen; behind them, after a gap of two stades, there came the rest of the army all mixed together.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 7, sections 101–104

101

When Xerxes had sailed past his fleet and disembarked from his ship, he sent for Demaratus, the son of Ariston, who had joined him on the expedition against Greece; he called him over and asked: 'Demaratus, now it pleases me to ask you what I want to know.  You are a Greek and as I have learned from you and the other Greeks who have conversed with me, you are a citizen of a city which is not the smallest or weakest of Greek cities.  So now tell me this, whether the Greeks will wait for me and raise their hands against me.  For in my opinion not even if all the Greeks and the remainder of those who dwell in the West had gathered together, they are not strong enough to stand against me if I attacked them, unless they are all in agreement.  However I want to learn also from you what you say about this matter.'   Demaratus replied: 'King, should I answer truthfully or to please you?' Xerxes told him to be truthful, saying that they would be on exactly the same terms as before.

102 

When Demaratus heard this, he spoke as follows: ‘King, since you tell me to be completely truthful and say nothing which can be shown to be a lie later by you, in Greece poverty has always been our companion, but courage we have gained for ourselves, achieved through wisdom and strong law; through her courage, Greece has kept away poverty and despotism. I praise all the Greeks who live in the Dorian lands, but I am going to speak not about all of them but about the Spartans only: firstly it is impossible for them to accept terms from you if it means slavery for Greece, and, secondly, they will oppose you even if all the other Greeks surrender. As for the number of men, do not consider whether they have sufficient forces to do this; for if one thousand men happen to be drawn up for battle, they will fight you, and this is true whether there are more than this or fewer.’ 

103 

At this Xerxes laughed and said: ‘Demaratus, what sort of a story is this, that a thousand men would fight against an army like mine? Come, tell me, you claim to have once been king yourself of these men. Are you willing at this very moment to fight against ten men? Yet if your state is just as you say it is, you, as their king, should face against a double portion according to your laws. For if each of them is capable of dealing with ten men in my army, I demand that you be capable of dealing with twenty. In this way the story you have just told me would be proved true. If they are in fact like you and the other Greeks who have conversed with me, you are bragging a great deal; beware that what you say may be an empty boast. How could one thousand or ten thousand or fifty thousand men face an army as great as mine, especially when they are all equally free and not controlled by any one person? If they were controlled by one man as we are, through fear of him they might behave more bravely against their own nature or they might go into battle forced by the whip, a smaller number against a greater. However, as they are completely free, neither of these things would happen. In my opinion, even if the numbers on either side were the same, the Greeks would find it difficult to fight against the Persians alone. In my army there is this same attitude that you mentioned, yet it is found only rarely: there are those amongst my spearmen who want to fight with three Greeks at the same time. You have no experience of this and you are talking nonsense.’

104

In response Demaratus said: ‘King, I realised from the beginning that you would not like what I said if I spoke the truth. But, since you required me to speak the absolute truth, I told you the situation in Sparta. Yet you yourself well know how I happen to feel at present about my fellow countrymen, who took away my honour and inherited privileges, and made me stateless and an exile; your father took me in and gave me a home and the means to live. It is not reasonable for a sensible man to reject such kindness, but rather he should accept it. For my part I do not claim to be able to fight with ten men or two; and I would prefer not to fight even with one, if I had a choice. But if it were necessary or it there were a serious reason urging me on, I would fight most happily with one of those men who claims to be capable of dealing with three Greeks at once. In this way the Spartans, fighting as individuals, are no worse than any others, but when fighting side by side they are the best of all men. Although they are free, they are not free in every respect: they have as a master the law, which they fear much more than your subjects fear you. They do whatever it orders, and it always orders the same thing – it does not allow them to flee from battle whatever the size of the opposing forces, but commands them to stay in formation and either conquer or be killed. But if I appear to be speaking nonsense when I say this, I am willing to be silent in future. As it is, I spoke because you compelled me to. May things turn out as you wish, King.’
Herodutus, The Histories Book 7, section 138

138 

The campaign of Xerxes was directed supposedly against Athens but in fact was aimed at the whole of Greece. The Greeks knew this but they did not all consider it equally threatening. For some of them gave earth and water to the Persian king and so were confident that they would not suffer anything terrible at the hands of the barbarians. Those who did not submit were very much afraid since there were not sufficient ships in Greece to resist the invading fleet, and the majority of Greeks did not want to fight and were ready to go over to the Persian side. I now feel compelled to state an opinion which will not be accepted by many people, yet, as it seems to me at least to be true, I will speak out. If the Athenians, through fear of the approaching danger, had left their own country (or if they had stayed in Attica and surrendered to the king), no one would have tried to resist the king by sea. If no one had opposed Xerxes by sea, then the situation on the mainland would have turned out like this: even if extensive fortifications were built by the Peloponnesians across the Isthmus, the Spartans would have been betrayed by their allies – not because they wanted to, but through necessity, as they were overwhelmed city by city by the fleet of the enemy; the Spartans would have been left alone, and would have done great deeds and would have died nobly; or perhaps, as they saw the rest of the Greek world submitting to the Persians, they would also have come to an agreement with Xerxes. So, in either case, Greece would have come under Persian control. I cannot see what use walls built across the Isthmus would have been when the Persian king controlled the sea. For this reason, it is absolutely correct to say that the Athenians were the saviours of Greece; whichever side they fought on was destined to be victorious; they chose that Greece should survive a free country, and the Athenians were the ones who urged on all the rest of Greece that had not surrendered, and it was the Athenians who – after the gods – thrust back the Persian king. The fearful oracles that came to them from Delphi and caused panic did not persuade them to abandon Greece, but they stayed and resisted the enemy who marched against their land.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 7, sections 206–228

206 

The Spartans sent Leonidas and his 300 fighters before the rest of the army, so that the other allies would see them and march out also and not surrender to the Persians as they might if they learned that Sparta was not sending its army. They intended, once the festival of the Carneia was over, to leave a garrison in Sparta and march out with all their forces as quickly as they could. The rest of the allies decided to do the same, for the Olympic festival happened to take place at about the same time. As they did not expect the battle at Thermopylae to come to an end so soon, they only sent small contingents in advance.

207 

As the Persians were on the point of attacking, the Greeks at Thermopylae were concerned and held a meeting to discuss retreat. The rest of the Peloponnesians proposed that they should go to the Peloponnese and defend the Isthmus, but when the Phocians and Locrians showed their anger at this suggestion, Leonidas decided to stay in position and send messengers to the Greek cities asking for more troops, since they were a small force to resist the Persians.

208 

As they were discussing these issues, Xerxes sent a scout on horseback to find out how many Greeks there were and what they were doing. While he was still in Thessaly he had heard that a small force was concentrated there, and the Spartans were the leaders, under the command of Leonidas, who was descended from Heracles. When the horseman rode up to the camp, he observed not the whole of the army (for he could not see those who were stationed on the Greek side of the wall which had been rebuilt and was now guarded) but he studied those who were stationed outside the wall: the Spartans happened to be stationed there at this time, and the scout watched some of them exercising naked while others combed their hair. The Persian was amazed watching them but he noted their numbers accurately and returned to the Persian camp quietly. No one pursued him or took any notice of what he was doing. When he got back, he reported all that he had seen to Xerxes.

209 

Xerxes was not able to understand what the scout told him, which showed that the Spartans were getting ready to die and to kill with all their might. As their behaviour seemed to him ridiculous, he sent for Demaratus, the son of Ariston, who was in the camp. When he came before him, he asked him about what the scout had seen, as he wanted to understand what the Spartans were doing. Demaratus said: ‘You have heard my account of these men before, when we were setting off for Greece. You made fun of me when I told you how things would turn out. I try very hard to speak the truth in your presence, my lord. Hear what I have to say again on this occasion: these men have come here to fight you for control of the pass and they are getting ready to do just that. When they are about to risk their lives the Spartans usually comb their hair carefully. But understand this: if you can overcome these men and those who are still in Sparta, there is no other race of men that will withstand you or raise a hand against you. You are facing the noblest kingdom in Greece and the bravest fighting men.’ Xerxes found Demaratus’ account completely unbelievable and asked a second time how so small a force would fight against his army. ‘King, Demaratus replied, ‘treat me as a liar if events do not turn out as I say they will.’ But these words did not persuade Xerxes.

210 

The king waited for four days, as he expected them to run off at any moment; but on the fifth, as they had not left but appeared to him to behave impudently and foolishly, in a rage he sent the Medes and Cissians to attack them, and he ordered them to capture them alive and bring them in front of him. When the Medes charged and fell upon the Greeks, many were killed, but others took their place, and they did not retreat even though they suffered terrible losses. This made clear to everybody, and not least to the king, that there were many men in his army but few true warriors. The battle lasted through the day.

211

The Medes were treated roughly and at length were taken out of the battle, their place being taken by the Persian forces which were called by the king the Immortals; they were under the command of Hydarnes and they were confident of achieving their goal. But when they joined battle with the Greeks, they achieved nothing more than the Medes had done, as they were fighting in a narrow pass with shorter spears than those used by the Greeks and they were unable to use their superior numbers. The Spartans fought in a memorable manner; they showed that they knew how to fight while their enemy did not; for example, they turned their backs and fled altogether, but when the Persians saw this and came after them in pursuit shouting and clattering their weapons, the Spartans turned to face them just as they were about to catch them up and so slew a very large number of Persians. A few of the Spartans themselves were killed at this time. When the Persians were unable to capture the pass, even though they attacked it by divisions and in every way they could, they withdrew back to their camp.

212 

During these attacks, it is said that the king, as he watched, sprang up three times from his throne through fear for his army. This is how they fought on the first day; on the next, the Persians were no more successful: as the Greeks were few in number, they expected them to have suffered wounds and so be unable to fight against them. The Greeks were drawn up in divisions, state by state, and each group fought in turn except the Phocians, as they had been given the task of guarding the path that led over the mountains. When the Persians found that things were exactly the same as the day before, they withdrew.

213 

The king did not know what to do in this situation, but then a man came to him in expectation of a large payment; this was Ephialtes the son of Eurydemus, a man from the city of Malis, who told the king about the track across the mountain which leads to Thermopylae, and so brought destruction on the Greeks who held their positions there. Later, in fear of the Spartans, Ephialtes fled to Thessaly, and when he had gone a reward was offered by the Amphictyons who meet at Pylae. Some time after this Ephialtes returned to Anticyra and was killed by Athenades of Trachis. Athenades killed him not because of the reward, yet he was honoured by the Spartans just as much for what he did.

214 

There is another version of this story, in which Onetes, the son of Phanagoras of Carystus and Corydallus of Anticyra were the ones who told Xerxes about the track and led the Persians over the mountain, but I do not believe it at all. For we should consider that the Amphictyons placed the price not on Onetes and Corydallus but on Ephialtes of Trachis, after careful research. We also know that Ephialtes fled because he was accused of this treacherous act. Onetes could have known about the track, even though he wasn’t born in Malis, if he had spent enough time there; but it was Ephialtes who led the Persians round the mountain along the track, and I set him down as the one responsible.

215 

When Xerxes was satisfied that Ephialtes could do what he promised, he was overjoyed and at once sent Hydarnes and his men with him; they set off from the camp as the lamps were being lit. This track was discovered by Malians who lived there, and they led the Thessalians by this route against the Phocians, who until then were protected from attack by the wall they had built at Thermopylae.

216 

The track begins at the river Asopus, which flows through the rocky gorge; both the mountain and the track have the same name, Anopaea. Then it goes along the ridge of the mountain and leads down to the city of Alpenos (which is the first Locrian city as you come from Malis) near the rock which is called Black Buttocks’ Rock and the seats of the Cecropes, where it is very narrow. 

217 

This is the track the Persians followed once they had crossed the Asopus, and they journeyed all night, keeping the mountains of Oeta to their right and those of Trachis to their left. When dawn came they were at the top of the mountain ridge. As I have previously shown, this ridge was guarded by one thousand Phocians, who were protecting their own country and watching the track; they had volunteered to take on this task for Leonidas.

218 

While they were ascending, the Persians had not been noticed by the Phocians as the mountain slopes were covered by oak trees; it was a windless day and the feet of those marching made a lot of noise as they came through the fallen leaves, so the Phocians jumped up and were putting on their armour as the enemy came into view. The Persians were astonished when they saw men getting into their armour; they were not expecting any opposition, and had come across an army. Then Hydarnes, concerned that Phocians were actually Spartans, asked Ephialtes what forces they were facing; when he found out the truth he got the Persians ready for battle. When the Phocians came under heavy bombardment from the Persian bowmen, they quickly retreated to the summit of the mountain, as they thought the Persian attack was directed against them, and they prepared to be overwhelmed. However the Persians with Ephialtes and Hydarnes took no notice of them, but continued down the mountain as fast as they could.

219 

It was the seer Megistias who gave the first warning to the Greeks who were stationed at Thermopylae. He looked at the sacrifices and said that death was destined to arrive for them at dawn; there were also some deserters who arrived while it was still night and reported that the Persians had used the track. Finally some look-outs ran down from the heights just as day was breaking. The Greeks held a council and opinions were divided, for some refused to leave their position while others urged that they should. Once the council was over, the army split: some departed and scattered each to his own city, while others prepared to remain with Leonidas in the pass.

220 

It is said that Leonidas himself sent the others away, as he did not want them to be killed: but he did not think it right that he and his Spartans should leave the position they had come to guard. I am convinced that, when he saw his allies were not eager for the fight and were not willing to face the dangers with him, Leonidas told them to leave, but felt it was wrong for him to retreat. By standing his ground, he gained great fame, and the good fortune of Sparta was not destroyed. At the very beginning the Spartans had consulted the oracle of Delphi about the war against Persia; the Pythian priestess had told them that either their city would be overturned by the barbarians or a Spartan king must be killed. She told them this in hexameter verse:

You who live in Sparta of the open lands,

Either your great and famous city must be laid waste

By Persian men, or the land of Sparta will weep for the death

Of a king from the house of Heracles.

For neither the strength of bulls or lions will hold him,

Face to face; he has the might of Zeus. I say he will not

Be restrained until he has completely destroyed one of these.

So I think that Leonidas had this prophecy in mind and wanted to gain fame for the Spartans alone when he sent away his allies; it was not the case that those who retreated left without orders after a disagreement about what to do.
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The strongest evidence for this is, in my opinion, that the seer Megistias the Acarnanian who foretold through the sacrifices what was going to happen to them was openly ordered by Leonidas to leave, so that he did not perish with them. However he did not leave, but he sent back his only son, who was on the expedition with him.

222 

The allies who were sent away departed and obeyed Leonidas, except the Thespians and the Thebans who stayed behind at the side of the Spartans. The Thebans stayed but did not do so willingly (Leonidas kept them as hostages), while the Thespians were very much volunteers, as they refused to withdraw leaving Leonidas and his men behind, but stayed at their posts and died with the Spartans. Demophilus, the son of Diadromes, was in charge of them.

223 

When the sun had risen, Xerxes poured a libation, then waiting until the time when the market-place is full he began to make his approach. This was the plan arranged with Ephialtes: the descent from the mountain is more direct and shorter than the ascent along the track. So the Persian army moved forward and the Greeks around Leonidas, as they knew they were facing their deaths, went much further forward than previously to where the pass was wider: for on the previous days they had been guarding the wall, and had only gone beyond it to fight in the narrow parts of the pass. On this occasion many of the barbarians joined battle with them in the more open area and were killed; the unit commanders were behind their men with whips and were striking everyone, urging them forward. Many indeed fell into the sea and were killed, and still more were trampled under foot alive by each other. There was no way to count the number who died. As the Greeks knew that they could not escape death at the hands of those who had come round the mountain, they put every last ounce of strength into the battle against the barbarians, fighting recklessly and with no thought for their own lives.

224 

The majority of them had broken their spears by this time, and were killing the Persians with their swords. In this turmoil Leonidas fell, one of the bravest of men, and with him other notable Spartans, whose names I have learned, as they were men who ought to be remembered, in all three hundred in number. There also fell in the battle many well-known Persians, including two children of Darius who were brothers of Xerxes, Abrocomes and Hyperanthes, whose mother was Phratagune, daughter of Artanes; Artanes was the brother of king Darius, and was the child of Hystaspes, the son of Arsames; in giving his daughter to Darius, as she was his only child, he gave him all that he possessed.

225 

These brothers of Xerxes fell in the fighting, and there was a great struggle over the body of Leonidas between the Persians and Spartans until the Greeks drove off the enemy four times and finally drew the body out of the fight through their courage. This is how matters stood until those with Ephialtes arrived. When the Greeks learned that they had come, they immediately changed their tactics. They went back to the narrow part of the pass and got behind the wall, where they all took up position together - apart from the Thebans - on a hill (this is at the entrance of the pass where now the stone lion stands as a memorial for Leonidas). It was here the barbarians overwhelmed them with missiles, as they fought on with swords – if they still had them – or with their hands and teeth. Some of the Persians pressed forward against them and demolished the wall, while others stood around on all sides and maintained the attack.
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Of the Spartans and Thespians who fought as I have described, the bravest was a Spartan Dieneces; the story goes that before they engaged with the Persians, he learned from one of the men from Trachis that when the barbarians fired their bows, the sun was hidden by the number of arrows. He was not terrified by the number of the Persian army, but remarked that the stranger from Trachis had brought some good news, as if the Persian arrows hid the sun the battle would take place in the shade and not in the heat of the sun. These and other similar remarks by Dieneces are left as a memorial to his bravery.
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After Dieneces the bravest fighters were said to be two Spartan brothers, Alpheus and Maron, the children of Orsiphantus. Of the Thespians the greatest reputation for bravery was won by Dithyrambus, the son of Hamartides.
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The dead were buried where they fell, together with those who died before the men sent away by Leonidas left. These words are written for them all:

Here once against three million men did fight

Four thousand from the land of Pelops. 

There is another epitaph especially for the Spartans:

Stranger, tell the Spartans that here

We lie, obedient to their commands.

And there is another for the seer Megistias:

This is the memorial of the famous Megistias, who once was killed

By Persians when they had passed the river Spercheios;

A seer, who, although he knew for certain that doom was coming,

Would not leave the leaders of Sparta.

The Amphictyons set up the columns and the epitaphs on them, except for the one about Megistias, which was put there for friendship by Simonides, the son of Leoprepes.

Herodotus, The Histories Book 8, sections 78–112

78 

The heated discussion between the commanders at Salamis was continuing. They did not yet know the barbarians had encircled them with their ships, but they thought they held the same positions as they had during the day.

79

While the commanders were still arguing about what to do, Aristides, the son of Lysimachus, crossed over from Aegina. (Aristides, an Athenian, had been ostracised by the people of Athens, but, knowing his character as I do, I consider him to be the best and most just man in Athens.) When he came to the meeting place where the generals were, he stood outside and sent for Themistocles, who was by no means a friend of his, but in fact a personal enemy. However because of the scale of the present difficulties he put aside his feelings and asked for Themistocles, as he wanted to talk with him. He had heard that those commanders from the Peloponnese wanted to take their ships to the Isthmus. When Themistocles came out, he said ‘We should maintain our rivalry, especially at this critical time, to see which of us can do the greater good for our native land. I must tell you that it doesn’t matter what the Peloponnesians say about sailing away from here. I have seen with my own eyes and I tell you that Eurybiades and the Corinthians will not be able to sail away from here even if they want to: we are surrounded by the enemy. Go back in and tell them this.’
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Themistocles replied: ‘You have brought good news and good advice. For you have seen with your own eyes what I wanted to happen. You should understand that the Persian have done this because of me. It was essential, as the Greeks would not commit themselves to battle willingly, to force them to fight against their will. However, since you are here with this good news, report it to the commanders yourself. If I tell them, I will seem to be making it up and I will not persuade them as they will think the Persians have not done what you have just told me. Go in and tell them how things stand. If they are persuaded by you, that would be best, but if they are not convinced, it will be just the same for us; they will no longer be able to sail away, if we are surrounded as you tell me.’
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Aristides went in and told them what the situation was, saying that he had come from Aegina and had with difficulty slipped past the enemy ships without being seen; the whole Greek force was surrounded by Xerxes’ ships. He advised them to get ready to defend themselves. When he had made his report he left, and then once again there were heated arguments, as the majority of the commanders did not believe what they had been told.
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While they were still arguing, a Tenian trireme, under the command of Panaetius, the son of Sosimenes, deserted and came over to them bringing an accurate account of what was happening. Because of this the Tenians were included on the tripod at Delphi among the states who drove out the Persians. The total number of the Greek fleet now came to 380: without this ship which deserted at Salamis and the Lemnian one from the earlier battle at Artemisium the total would have been two short of this.
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As the information given by the Tenians convinced the Greeks, preparations were made for a sea battle. When day dawned, they collected the fighting force together and Themistocles, of all those there, gave the most inspiring speech: he compared the best and worst features of the nature and state of mankind, and encouraged those listening to choose the best of these. When he had brought his speech to an end he ordered them onto the ships. The Greeks began to embark, and the trireme from Aegina arrived, bringing the sons of Aeacus. Then the Greeks put to sea with all their ships; as soon as they did so, the Persians attacked.
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The majority of the Greeks slowed down and began to back water, but Ameinias of Pallene, an Athenian, sailed on and attacked a ship. The ships became entangled and the men could not separate them, so the rest came to help Ameinias and joined the battle. That is how the Athenians say the battle started, though the Aeginetans claim that it was started by the ship that had been sent to Aegina to fetch the sons of Aeacus. There is also another story, that the apparition of a woman appeared, shouting out insultingly in such a loud voice that the whole Greek fleet could hear her: ‘Miserable fighters, how far are you going to retreat?’
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Opposite the Athenians the Phoenician fleet was drawn up (as they held the left wing on the western end close to Eleusis), while the Ionians’ ships, which were on the eastern end towards Piraeus, were facing the Spartans. A few of the Ionians followed Themistocles’ request and behaved more like cowards than brave men, but the majority of them did no such thing. I could list the names of many ship captains who captured Greek ships, but I will not mention them, except for Theomestor, the son of Androdamas, and Phylacus, the son of Histiaeus, both of whom were from Samos. I mention just these two because Theomestor became tyrant of Samos through his actions in this battle, set up by the Persians, and Phylacus was named in the list of benefactors of the king and was presented with a great area of land. In the Persian language the benefactors of the king are called orosangae.
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The majority of the Persian ships were in difficulties at Salamis, some overwhelmed by the Athenians and others by the Aeginetans. As the Greeks were fighting in good order with each squadron in the right place, and the Persians were no longer in formation and were not able to follow their plan, the eventual result was predictable. Yet the Persians fought much better that day than they had at Euboea: every man was eager to do well because of their fear of Xerxes and thought that the king was watching him.

87

I cannot give an accurate account of the contribution made by the various Greek and barbarian contingents to the battle, but there is a story about Artemisia’s involvement which raised her reputation still higher with the king. When the king’s fleet had lost formation in the confusion of battle, Artemisia’s ship was being pursued by an Athenian one. Since she was unable to escape (there were friendly ships ahead of her and she happened to be very close to the enemy), she decided to do the following (which turned out very well for her): the Athenian ship was still pursuing her, so she rammed a friendly ship from Calynda, commanded by Damasithymus, the king of the Calyndians. I cannot say whether there had been some quarrel with this man while they were in the Hellespont, or if she did it intentionally, or if it was by chance that she chose that direction. She rammed this ship and sank it, and gained a double reward from her good fortune. The commander of the Athenian ship saw her ram one of the enemy ships, and, thinking that Artemisia’s ship was either a Greek one or a deserter fighting with the Greeks, he turned and went after a different target.
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This was the first thing she gained – she escaped and was not killed; but in addition, even though she harmed the king by doing this, his opinion of her rose even higher. It is said that the king was watching and saw her ship ram another, and one of his retinue said: ‘Master, do you see how well Artemisia is fighting? She has sunk an enemy ship.’ Xerxes asked him if it was indeed Artemisia who had done this, and was told that it was, as her ship was clearly recognisable; it was assumed that the ship she sank was an enemy one. So this incident turned out well for her, especially as no-one survived from the Calyndian ship to accuse her. Xerxes’ response to this is said to have been: ‘My men have become women, and my women men.’

89

During this struggle the general Ariabignes was killed, a son of Darius and brother of Xerxes; many other worthy men lost their lives, from the Persians, the Medes and their other allies, and even a few Greeks. As the Greeks knew how to swim, if their ships were sunk, those who were not killed in the actual combat swam to Salamis. However many of the barbarians perished in the sea, since they did not know how to swim. The majority were killed when those ships which first engaged the Greeks turned to flight; for those who were stationed behind them, who were trying to engage with the enemy to do their duty for the king, became entangled with their own ships which were retreating.

90

During the confusion of battle, some Phoenicians, whose ships had been sunk, came to the king and put the blame for this on the treachery of the Ionians, as they were responsible for the destruction of their ships. However it turned out that it was not the Ionian commanders who paid the penalty but those Phoenicians who were blaming them. While the Phoenicians were complaining to the king, a ship from Samothrace rammed an Athenian ship. The Athenian ship began to sink, when an Aeginetan ship crashed into the Samothracian ship and sank her; as the Samothracian men had javelins, they drove the marines off the vessel which had rammed them and boarded it and gained control. What happened here saved the Ionians, for when Xerxes saw them achieve such a success, he turned to the Phoenicians, being very angry  because of the way the battle was going and ready to blame everyone, and ordered their heads to be cut off, to prevent cowards like them from slandering better men. Whenever Xerxes, who was seated at the base of Mt Aegaleos opposite Salamis, saw any of his men do a notable deed, he found out who it was, and his secretaries wrote down his name, together with his father’s name and his state. The Persian Ariaramnes, who was a friend to the Ionians and took part in this battle, also had a hand in what happened to the Phoenicians.
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When the barbarians turned to flight and were sailing back towards Phalerum the Aeginetans took their position in the narrows and did deeds worth remembering. In the confusion the Athenians were sinking both those who faced them and those who fled, while the Aeginetans dealt with those who were trying to sail out of the battle. Whenever any ships escaped from the Athenians, they immediately encountered the Aeginetans. 

92 

By chance Themistocles’ ship, which was in pursuit of an enemy vessel, came close to a ship whose captain was Polycritus, the son of Crius, an Aeginetan. Polycritus had rammed a Sidonian ship, the very one which had captured an Aeginetan guard-ship near Sciathus; this was the ship in which Pytheas the son of Ischenous was sailing, for the Persians had kept him on board, terribly injured though he was, as they admired his bravery. This was the ship that was captured with Pytheas on it and the Persian crew, so he returned home safely to Aegina. When he saw the Athenian ship, Polycritus recognised the commander’s flag, he shouted across to Themistocles asked him with a sneer if he thought the Aeginetans would surrender to the Persians. Those barbarians whose ships survived fled until they came to Phalerum and landed protected by the army.
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 In this battle, the Aeginetans were said to have performed the most valiantly of the Greeks, and after them, the Athenians; as for individuals, Polycritus the Aeginetan and the Athenians Eumenes of Anagyrus and Ameinias of Pallene. Ameinias was the captain of the ship that pursued Artemisia, and if he had known that Artemisia was sailing in that ship, he would never have broken off his pursuit until either he had either captured her or been captured himself; for an order about her had been given to the Athenian captains, and a prize of 10000 drachmae set aside for the man who captured her alive. The Athenians were annoyed that a woman was facing them in battle. However, as has been told, Artemisia had escaped. There were other Persians also who escaped with their ships to Phalerum.
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The Athenians claim that right at the beginning of the battle, the Corinthian commander Adeimantus panicked, raised his sails and fled, and further that the Corinthians, seeing their leader in flight, did just the same thing themselves. However when they were fleeing past the temple of Athene Sciras on Salamis, a strange boat met them, which no one seemed to have sent. The Corinthians reckoned that there was something divine about what happened. When it drew near their ships, the men in the ship said:  ‘Adeimantus, you have turned your ships to flight and betrayed the Greeks; but they are victorious, just as they prayed and are defeating their enemies.’ When Adeimantus did not believe what they said, they said that they could go with him as hostages and he could kill them if the Greeks were not actually victorious. So Adeimantus turned the Corinthian ships round and returned to the main fleet when all the action was over. This is the story the Athenians tell, but the Corinthians themselves do not agree, but consider that they played a notable part in the battle. The rest of Greece agrees with the Corinthian version of what happened.
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During the confusion of the battle near Salamis, the Athenian Aristides, son of Lysimachus, (whom I described a short while ago as a man of very good character) took many of the Athenian hoplites who had been stationed along the shoreline of Salamis and put them on the island of Psyttaleia, where they killed all the Persians who had been stationed there.
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When the battle was over, the Greeks took to Salamis all the damaged vessels that still happened to be there. They were ready for another battle, as they expected to king to use his remaining ships. A west wind took much of the damaged ships to that part of the Attic shore called Colias; because of this all the oracles of Bacis and Musaeus about this sea battle were fulfilled, as was another one foretold many years before this time (though all the Greeks had forgotten it) by Lysistratus, an Athenian soothsayer, which referred to the wrecks carried to Colias:


The Colian women will cook on oars.

This would take place once the king had gone.

97 

When Xerxes learned the full extent of the calamity, he was afraid that the Greeks would themselves come up with the plan (or would be prompted by the Ionians) to sail to the Hellespont to destroy the bridge there. Then he would be trapped in Europe and would run the risk of being killed by them. Because of this he planned his escape. However, as he did not want this to be obvious either to the Greeks or to his own troops he tried to construct a causeway, tying together Phoenician transport ships to be both bridge and wall, and he got his forces ready as if he were preparing for another sea battle. All the Persians were convinced, when they saw him making these preparations, that he had every intention of staying and fighting, but Mardonius was not deceived as he had considerable experience of the way Xerxes’ mind worked.

98 

Xerxes also sent a messenger to Persia to report the disaster he had suffered. There is nothing alive faster than these Persian messengers: this system was devised by the Persians. They say that there are as many horses and riders as there are days required for the journey; each horse and rider are stationed along the route, a day’s journey apart: neither snow nor rain nor heat nor nightfall prevents them from completing their part of the journey as quickly as possible. The first rider completes his journey and hands the message on to the second, and the second to the third, and so on until the message reaches its destination, just like the torch relay race which the Greeks hold at the festival of Hephaestus. In the Persian language this way of sending messages is called aggareïon.
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When Xerxes’ first report which stated that he now controlled Athens reached Susa, those who had been left behind were so delighted that they covered the roads with boughs of myrtle, and burned incense and surrendered themselves to pleasures and sacrifices. But when the second arrived it threw them into such confusion that everyone tore their clothes and there was loud shouting and wailing: they blamed Mardonius for what had happened. The Persians did not do this because they were concerned about the ships, but more because they were afraid for the king himself.
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 The Persians continued to react in this way until Xerxes himself came home and put a stop to it. When Mardonius saw that Xerxes considered the defeat in the sea battle a major setback, he suspected that he was planning to retreat from Athens; he considered that he would be punished for having persuaded the king to march against Greece, so it would be better for him to run more risks, either bringing Greece under Persian control or dying a noble death while trying to achieve great things. He thought it more likely that Greece would be overcome. So he made this proposal to Xerxes: ‘Master, do not be distressed or consider recent events here to be a significant setback. The deciding factor in our struggle will not be wooden ships but horses and men. None of those who think they have already achieved all they need to, will leave their ships and try to oppose you, nor will those from the mainland of Greece. Those who have opposed you have been punished. If it is your wish, let us attack the Peloponnese at once. But if you prefer, hold back for a time. Do not be discouraged: there is no escape for the Greeks – they will pay for what they have done both now and in the past, and they will be your slaves. I think that is your best choice. But if you have decided to return and take the army out of Greece, I have a second plan. My king, do not allow the Greeks to ridicule the Persians. None of the misfortunes we have suffered is due to the Persians, and you cannot say that we have been cowards. If the Phoenicians, Egyptians, Cypriots or Cilicians have been cowards, that does not reflect on us. As the Persians are not responsible for what has gone wrong, be persuaded by me: if you decide not to stay in Greece, return to your lands with the greater part of the army, and I will undertake to deliver Greece to you enslaved, if you allow me to select 300,000 men from our army.
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When Xerxes heard his proposal, he was delighted and very pleased, so he told Mardonius he would consider his suggestions and then tell him which he would choose. As he was discussing what to do with high-ranking Persians, he decided to send for Artemisia to ask her advice, because in the past she had been the only one to understand what needed to be done. When Artemisia arrived, Xerxes sent away his advisers and bodyguards and asked her: ‘Mardonius wants me to stay here and attack the Peloponnese, arguing that the Persian forces and my foot soldiers are not responsible at all for our misfortunes, and they want an opportunity to prove it. He wants me either to lead the attack myself or to give him the chance to select 300,000 men from the whole force and so deliver Greece to me in chains, while I return with the rest of the army to my own lands. You advised me not to engage in the battle which has just taken place, so now once more tell me what you think: which of these two plans would I be best advised to follow?’
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Artemisia replied: ‘King, it is difficult for me to give you the best advice, yet in the situation we are in I think you should return home, and leave Mardonius here with the forces he has asked for, if he is willing and he has promised to do what you say. If he is successful and subdues Greece, the achievement, my lord will be yours, as your slaves have carried out your commands. If events turn out badly for Mardonius, it will be no great disaster, as you and your power will be safe in Persia. If you and your family survive, the Greeks will face many more contests for their survival. If Mardonius suffers a misfortune, it is of no concern at all. The Greeks will not achieve a true victory, if they achieve any victory at all, should they kill your slave. Do what you set out to do – burn Athens and return home.
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Xerxes was delighted with this advice, as she confirmed what he was thinking himself. Not even if everyone had advised him to stay in Greece would he have remained, in my opinion, as he had been so terrified by what had happened. He praised Artemisia and sent her to Ephesus with his children (some of his illegitimate children had been on the expedition with him).

[104 -105-106 omitted]

107 
Xerxes then told Mardonius to choose the men that he wanted and to ensure that he achieved what he had promised. Nothing else was done that day, but during the night on the orders of the king, the commanders began to take the fleet back from Phalerum to the Hellespont, each going as quickly as he could, to guard the bridges for the king’s return journey. When the Persians sailed near Zoster, where some small headlands run out into the sea, they thought that these were ships and keeping as far away as they could they began to flee past them. But when they realised that these were rocks rather than ships, they collected their ships together again and carried on towards the Hellespont. 
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When it was day the Greeks seeing that the army was still in position expected the Persian navy still to be at Phalerum; they thought that there would be another sea battle, and they got ready to defend themselves. When they found out that the ships had sailed, they at once decided to pursue them. When they got to Andros without catching sight of Xerxes’ fleet, they stopped and debated what to do next. Themistocles’ view was that they should sail on through the islands in pursuit as far as the Hellespont so that they could destroy the bridges. But Eurybiades proposed a very different course of action, claiming that if they did what Themistocles suggested it would be a calamity for Greece. If the Persian king were cut off from Asia and compelled to stay in Europe, he would be forced to renew his campaign, for if he did not his situation would not improve and there would be no escape home in the future and his army would starve; however if he vigorously renewed his campaign all of Europe would join him city by city and people by people, either because they were conquered or by agreement before this happened. The Persians would get their supplies from the annual harvest. As Xerxes had decided after his defeat at sea not to stay in Europe, Eurybiades thought that he should be allowed to escape back to Asia, as the war could then be carried on in his territory. The other generals from the Peloponnese also took this view.
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When Themistocles realised that he would not persuade the majority to sail to the Hellespont, he adopted a different approach and addressed the Athenians (they were the most annoyed at the enemy’s flight and were eager to sail to the Hellespont, even if they went alone, if the others were not willing to go): ‘On many occasions’ said Themistocles, ‘both when I have been present myself and still more that I have been told about, I know that men who have been forced back in defeat can take up the fight again and throw off their earlier feebleness. We have had the luck to save our country and ourselves by driving back so great a host of men: let us not pursue them as they escape. This was not achieved by us, but by the gods and the heroes, who are jealous that one man should be king of both Asia and Europe, especially such a godless and arrogant one. He treated sacred things as if they belonged to men when he threw down and burned the statues of the gods; he also whipped the sea and put chains on it. As fortune is smiling on us, we should stay in Greece for the present and look after ourselves and our families. Let us rebuild our houses and take care of the sowing, as we have driven the barbarian out of our land. Let us wait until spring to sail to the Hellespont and Ionia.’ Themistocles said this because he wanted to have a claim on the king’s gratitude in the future, so that if he fell out of favour with the Athenians he would have somewhere to escape to – this did in fact turn out to be needed.
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Themistocles deceived the Athenians and persuaded them to follow his advice; in the past he had always been considered clever, but now they thought him both clever and an excellent adviser, so they were very willing to do exactly what he suggested. As soon as this was decided, Themistocles sent men by boat to tell the king what he had ordered; these were men he believed would keep quiet even under torture. One of these was a servant Sicinnus, whom he had sent to Xerxes before. When they came to Attica, some stayed at the boat, while Sicinnus went inland to Xerxes and said: ‘Themistocles, the son of Neocles, the best and cleverest of all the Greek allies and an Athenian general, has sent me to tell you that Themistocles the Athenian wishes to help you and has persuaded the Greeks not to pursue your ships or destroy the bridges over the Hellespont, even though they want to. Go peacefully on your way.’
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Once they had passed on their message they sailed back to the fleet.  Once the Greeks had decided not to pursue the Persian fleet any further, nor to sail to the Hellespont to destroy the bridges, they began to besiege the city of Andros with the intention of capturing it. The Andrians were the first islanders not to give Themistocles money when he asked for it; he had argued that the Athenians had come to Andros with two powerful gods, Persuasion and Compulsion, so they would have to pay what he demanded. However the islanders replied that Athens was a great and fortunate city to have the support of two such powerful gods, but the people of Andros were poor in land and had two useless gods who would not leave their island but wanted to stay there always, Poverty and Helplessness; as they had the support of these gods, they would not pay any money – Athens’ ability to enforce their demands would never be a match for their inability to pay. This is the response the Andrians gave, and as they did not produce any money they were besieged.
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Themistocles (he was always greedy for money) sent threatening demands to the other islands, using the same messengers as he had sent to the king; these stated that if the islands did not pay what was asked for, Themistocles would bring the Greek force and capture them by siege. This worked against the Carystians and Parians; once they learned that Andros was under siege because of the help she had given Persia and that Themistocles was the best of the Greek commanders, both cities through fear sent the money to Themistocles, who soon collected a very large amount. I cannot say whether other islanders paid up besides these; I expect that some others did and not just these alone. The Carystians, even though they paid up, still had to face the Greek fleet; but the Parians, after appeasing Themistocles’ anger with money, did not. So while he was besieging Andros, Themistocles gained a great deal of money from the islanders without the other commanders realising what he was doing.
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